STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 04 2023**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Honorable Alex Kinlaw Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2022-001263

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

v.

OLANDIO R. WORKMAN,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

An erroneous instruction concerning a lesser-included offense is harmless when it does not affect the jury's deliberations. In this DVHAN case, DV 1<sup>st</sup> was charged as a lesser-included offense. The trial court gave an incomplete definition of §(B)(5) of the DV 1<sup>st</sup> statute. The jury convicted Workman of DVHAN even though its verdict shows it determined Workman's conduct met the elements of DV 1<sup>st</sup> under §(B)(4). Was Workman prejudiced?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2017, a Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Respondent, Olandio R. Workman, for Domestic Violence of a High and Aggravated Nature (DVHAN), Kidnapping, and Possession of a Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime. Workman proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge, on September 17–20, 2018. The State alleged Workman confined and beat his wife, Loretta Workman, over a period of three days and used two guns to intimidate, and at one point strike, Mrs. Workman.

The court instructed the jury on the lesser-included offense of Domestic Violence in the First Degree (DV 1<sup>st</sup>). The parties agreed a charge on Domestic Violence in the Second Degree (DV 2<sup>nd</sup>) was not warranted by the evidence as a lesser-included offense. However, Workman argued it was necessary for the court to define DV 2<sup>nd</sup> because the presence of DV 2<sup>nd</sup> along with other aggravating factors it is one of several alternative bases for guilt of DV 1<sup>st</sup>. Workman was convicted as charged of each offense and sentenced to 12 years' incarceration for DVHAN, 15 years for Kidnapping, and 5 years for Possession of a Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime, with the sentences to be served concurrently.

Workman appealed his DVHAN conviction. After briefing and oral argument, the South Carolina Court of Appeals issued a published opinion reversing Workman's conviction for DVHAN. State v. Workman, 437 S.C. 62, 876 S.E.2d 151 (Ct.App. 2022). The State filed a petition for rehearing, which was denied on August 12, 2022. The State filed petition for a writ of certiorari with this Court on September 12, 2022, and Workman filed a return on October 12, 2022. This Court granted certiorari on October 27, 2023. This Brief of Petitioner follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 29, 2016, Deputy Shannon McHale was dispatched to a residence in Greenville County regarding a welfare check on Loretta Workman. (App.121, lines 7–9). One of Mrs. Workman’s coworkers had called 911 because Mrs. Workman had not shown up for work. (App.121, lines 9–12). Deputy McHale arrived just before 7:00 p.m. and Respondent Workman answered the front door. (App.122).

Deputy McHale informed Workman she was there to speak to Mrs. Workman, but Workman replied his wife was not home. (App.122, lines 22–24). Workman told Deputy McHale she could not search the residence and that Mrs. Workman was with her mother and would be back in an hour. (App.123). Workman claimed Mrs. Workman’s cell phone was broken and that he did not know her mother’s phone number. (App.124, lines 14–21).

Deputy McHale spoke with neighbors who said they had not seen Mrs. Workman in a few days, but if Mrs. Workman’s vehicle was in the driveway and the children were home, then Mrs. Workman was there. (App.124–25). Deputy McHale had dispatch contact local hospitals and learned none of them had admitted Mrs. Workman as a patient. (App.125, lines 16–19). Police contacted Mrs. Workman’s boss who stated she had not been at work and that this was unlike her. (App.125, lines 20–24). Mrs. Workman’s boss further informed police that Mrs. Workman left her a voicemail on Saturday but it was “garbled” and she had been unsuccessful at reaching Mrs. Workman since then. (App.125–26). Police also made contact with the original complainant, Mrs. Workman’s co-worker. (App.206, lines 6–15). She told police she had noticed scratches on Mrs. Workman a few weeks earlier and it was enough to “raise an eyebrow.” (App.206, lines 17–22). Deputy McHale testified Mrs. Workman’s cell phone provider informed them Mrs. Workman’s cell phone had been off for at least 27 hours but the

last known location was the Workmans' residence. (App.126, lines 11–20). At this point, Deputy McHale believed Mrs. Workman was inside the home and obtained a search warrant and the assistance of the SWAT team. (App.127, lines 7–13).

SWAT officers responded to the scene and attempted to get the occupants of the home to come out, calling over a loudspeaker for over an hour. (App.225). Around this time, police received a 911 call from a male caller stating he had been stabbed at an address adjacent to the Workmans' home through the woods. Police were unable to locate any stabbing victim. (App.130–31). The phone number that called to report the stabbing belonged to Workman. (App.131, lines 1–16).

Eventually, SWAT entered the home and located a battered Mrs. Workman and her two children in a bedroom. Workman was no longer there. (App.129, lines 15–21). When asked why she refused to come out, Mrs. Workman originally told officers she was asleep and did not hear them calling. (App.229, lines 6–7). However, the Workmans' 6-year-old son told police he heard them calling but his mother refused to let him leave the bedroom. (App.231, lines 14–17). He said his parents had been "fighting" and "his daddy" caused the injuries to Mrs. Workman. (App.280, lines 16–23).

Police searched the home and located two guns in the master bedroom. They found an AK-47-style rifle under the mattress of the bed and a 9mm handgun in a nightstand. (App.163–64). Each gun was loaded with a bullet in the chamber. (App.238, lines 18–21). Mrs. Workman told officers about a third gun that was never located. (App.237, lines 13–18).

Deputy McHale testified Mrs. Workman "had bruising to her face" and two black eyes that were "really badly swollen. . . . I'd assumed she could barely see out of them as to how swollen they were." (App.130, lines 5–9). Sergeant Ramon Rivera testified Mrs. Workman

“had two black eyes” and “swelling around her [cheek] bone area” and “finger marks” on her arms and neck. (App.212–13). She seemed disoriented and confused. (App.212–13).

Sergeant Robert Perry attempted to interview Mrs. Workman, but she appeared “traumatized . . . irritable, irritated at us for being there.” (App.226, lines 15–24). Mrs. Workman originally told him her injuries occurred during a bar fight. (App.228, lines 6–8). Sergeant Perry testified he wanted to get Mrs. Workman into a shelter for battered women, but Mrs. Workman and her children left to stay with her sister-in-law. (App.232–35). Sergeant Perry set up a meeting with DSS for Mrs. Workman the following morning, but learned Mrs. Workman had left the state with her children. (App.240–41).

Days later, Mrs. Workman contacted Sergeant Perry. (App.244–46). Sergeant Perry testified Mrs. Workman was “very apologetic . . . for not cooperating more [on the] night of the incident.” (App.246, lines 11–17). Sergeant Perry recounted Mrs. Workman’s “story of a continual cycle of domestic violence, control, abuse, fear, intimidation” at the hands of Workman. (App.247, lines 15–18). Mrs. Workman told him the last incident began after Workman accused her of cheating and this was not the first time she and Workman had issues. (App.247–48).

Mrs. Workman testified and explained that on Saturday the 27<sup>th</sup>, Workman arrived home and immediately began asking: “Where’s your phone? Who have you been talking to? I know you’ve been cheating on me, you cheating, lying bitch . . . .” (App.293, lines 8–24). Mrs. Workman testified this was common behavior for Workman and she gave him her phone to search. (App.294, lines 1–5). Workman then began “constantly” and “repeatedly” punching Mrs. Workman about her face and body. Mrs. Workman testified the children were present and were “running in and out, watching TV, playing.” (App.294, lines 20–25). The abuse

“continued the whole three days.” Mrs. Workman testified Workman kept accusing her of cheating: “Every time I even opened my mouth, ‘you’re lying.’ And he’d smack me again, or he’d punch me again, or choke me, and throw me to the floor.” (App.295, lines 5–14).

Mrs. Workman did not go to work on Monday because Workman told her the trailer would blow up if she attempted to open any of the doors or windows. (App.299–300). She testified, “I don’t know what he’s capable of. You see what he did to my face.” (App.300, lines 10–11). She explained Workman “wasn’t allowing me to go anywhere. He took the keys to the cars, everything.” (App.300, lines 4–5). Mrs. Workman no longer had access to a phone because Workman “broke it.” (App.301, lines 18–19).

Mrs. Workman testified that Workman at various times held a gun as he beat her. When asked why he was holding the guns, Mrs. Workman responded: “I guess for intimidation. And he was threatening me with them.” (App.298, lines 14–15). She testified that at one point Workman struck her with the pistol as she raised her hands to defend herself. (App.299, lines 1–13). She testified Workman was “holding [the gun], carrying it around the house” in front of the children. (App.299, lines 13–20).

On Monday when the police arrived, Mrs. Workman did not hear the initial knock on the door because she was in the shower. (App.305, lines 2–4). Workman told her the police were at the door and ordered her to put makeup on to “cover up the bruises on [her] face” and “lay down in the bedroom with the kids and not to make a sound.” (App.305, lines 10–20). Mrs. Workman testified she was unaware the guns were in the bedroom at that time because she thought Workman had kept them in the living room with him. (App.305–06). Mrs. Workman could hear the police asking them to exit the home, but she did not leave because she thought Workman was

still there and would hurt her. (App.306, lines 4–18). She testified she wanted the police to “rescue” her. (App.306, lines 22).

### **Charge conference**

Before closing arguments, the court held a charge conference. The attorneys agreed DV 1<sup>st</sup> should be charged as a lesser included offense of DVHAN. (App.426, lines 21–23). The attorneys also agreed DV 2<sup>nd</sup> should not appear on the verdict form as a lesser-included offense. (App.436, lines 8–21). However, defense counsel argued the court should nevertheless define the offense of DV 2<sup>nd</sup> and moderate bodily injury “as it relates to” DV 1<sup>st</sup> because the presence of moderate bodily injury forms a potential basis of guilt for DV 1<sup>st</sup> when combined with other aggravating factors. (App. pp. 426–36). Defense counsel seemed to argue moderate bodily injury was essential to DV 2<sup>nd</sup>, and asked in the alternative for the court to charge the jury that DV 1<sup>st</sup> “may include moderate bodily injury accompanied by choking, blocking somebody from the telephone, or being perceived by a minor.” (App.426, lines 2–10; App.429, lines 19–23). Defense counsel argued, “my fear is that we’re going to get a question from the jury about what is criminal domestic violence second degree.” (App.434, lines 15–17). The trial court declined to charge the jury on DV 2<sup>nd</sup>, reasoning it would confuse the jury to instruct them on an uncharged offense. (App.433). However, the court agreed to define DV 2<sup>nd</sup> for the jury “if they have that question.” (App.435–36).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

For trial errors affecting some federal constitutional right, the appellate court must determine whether the error is “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 165, 420 S.E.2d 834, 838 (1992) (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)). In Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980), the United States Supreme Court held due process is violated when states forbid lesser-included instructions in capital cases, but declined to extend that holding to non-capital cases. Id. at 638 n.14 (1980). The majority view of the federal circuit courts is that there is no federal constitutional right to a lesser-offense instruction in a non-capital case. See McMullan v. Booker, 761 F.3d 662, 667 (6th Cir. 2014); Windham v. Merkle, 163 F.3d 1092, 1106 (9th Cir. 1998) (holding “the failure of a state trial court to instruct on lesser included offenses in a non-capital case does not present a federal constitutional question”); Trujillo v. Sullivan, 815 F.2d 597, 602 (10th Cir. 1987) (explaining “widely held view that failure of a state court to instruct on a lesser offense fails to present a federal constitutional question”); Alexander v. McCotter, 775 F.2d 595, 601 (5th Cir. 1985).

State and federal courts have noted the “beyond a reasonable doubt” standard is more stringent than their standard of review for nonconstitutional errors. United States v. Lane, 474 U.S. 438, 446 n.9 (1986) (noting “the standard for harmless-error analysis adopted in Chapman concerning constitutional errors is considerably more onerous than the standard for nonconstitutional errors”); People v. Schuller, 533 P.3d 908, 916 (Cal. 2023) (explaining “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt” standard for federal constitutional errors is “stricter” than “reasonably probable the outcome would have been different” standard which applies to “incorrect, ambiguous, conflicting, or wrongly omitted instructions that do not amount to federal constitutional error”); State v. Ward, 256 P.3d 801, 817 (Kan. 2011) (explaining the “Chapman

‘harmless beyond a reasonable doubt’ threshold requires the highest level of certainty that the error did not affect the outcome”); California v. Roy, 519 U.S. 2, 4 (1996).

This Court has at times recognized that the “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt” standard applies specifically to constitutional errors. Arnold, 309 S.C. at 165, 420 S.E.2d at 838; State v. Clark, 315 S.C. 478, 484, 445 S.E.2d 633, 636 (1994) (Toal, J. dissenting) (“In order for a constitutional error to be harmless, the error must have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”). However, the Court has increasingly applied the “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt” standard to trial errors not alleged to have violated a federal constitutional right. See, e.g., State v. Heyward, Op. No. 28182 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed October 5, 2023) (Howard Adv.Sh. No. 40 at 27) (finding error in admitting expert testimony “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt”). On other occasions, this Court has asked whether the error reasonably affected the result of trial. State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006) (“Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.”); State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971)). In State v. Tapp, this Court cited both standards within the same paragraph addressing a nonconstitutional error. State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). See also State v. Duncan, 86 S.C. 370, 68 S.E. 684, 685 (1910) (in the context of improper argument, explaining new trial should be granted where “it appears probable that the verdict was thereby affected”); State v. Evans, 202 S.C. 463, 25 S.E.2d 492, 494 (1943) (assessing whether “it is probable that the minds of the jury were influenced” by erroneously-admitted evidence).

The State is not aware of any instance where this Court has recognized as deliberate its shift to the “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt” standard for trial errors that do not violate a

constitutional right. Likewise, the State is not aware that this Court has ever noted a distinction between the two standards.

## ARGUMENT

**Workman was not prejudiced by the trial court's incomplete instruction on subsection (B)(5) of the DV 1<sup>st</sup> statute because the jury had the viable option to convict under (B)(4), but found Workman guilty of the greater offense of DVHAN.**

The court of appeals erred by reversing Workman's conviction for DVHAN on the basis that the trial court provided an "incomplete" definition of the lesser-included offense of DV 1<sup>st</sup>. At trial, the parties agreed DV 2<sup>nd</sup> should not be charged as a lesser-included offense. But Workman requested that the court define DV 2<sup>nd</sup> anyway because a defendant's commission of DV 2<sup>nd</sup>, combined with aggravating factors, may support guilt for DV 1<sup>st</sup> under §16-25-20 (B)(5). The trial court thought this would be confusing, but agreed to define DV 2<sup>nd</sup> if the jury asked. The court of appeals reversed on this basis.

The court of appeals failed to conduct a proper harmless error analysis. The court reversed based on the incompleteness of the charge without analyzing whether the incompleteness had any effect on the jury's deliberations in this case. Even if the jury *could* have found Workman guilty under §(B)(5), any defect in the charge did not make a difference because the jury had the clear option to convict under §(B)(4) based on Workman's use of a firearm "in any manner" while committing domestic violence. The jury's verdict indicates it found Workman met the elements of this subsection, but it nonetheless chose to convict him of the greater offense. Thus, the verdict was reliable and Workman was not prejudiced. This Court should reverse the court of appeals and reinstate Workman's conviction for DVHAN.

### **A. The trial court's DV 1<sup>st</sup> charge was incomplete.**

DV 1<sup>st</sup> has five versions with distinct elements listed in the disjunctive. S.C. Code §16-25-20 (B). The defendant can thus be convicted under alternate theories depending on the facts of the case. See United States v. Jackson, 32 F.4th 278, 285 (4th Cir. 2022). The court of

appeals held the trial court erred by providing an incomplete definition of subsection (B)(5). This subsection provides for guilt when “in the process of committing domestic violence in the second degree,” one of five aggravating factors is present. Even though §(B)(5) is based on an underlying commission of DV 2<sup>nd</sup>, at trial the parties agreed a charge on DV 2<sup>nd</sup> as a lesser-included offense was not supported by the evidence.

At the court of appeals, the State argued the evidence did not support a finding of guilt under §(B)(5) because there was no evidence of moderate bodily injury. After further consideration, the State believes this reading of the statute is too narrow. §(B)(5) is not predicated exclusively on a finding of moderate bodily injury, though this is the unique element of DV 2<sup>nd</sup> and this was the theory advanced by Workman at trial and at the court of appeals. Rather, §(B)(5) can be satisfied by evidence the defendant committed domestic violence accompanied by more than one of the aggravating factors listed in §(B)(5). Because domestic violence accompanied by any of the aggravating factors constitutes DV 2<sup>nd</sup>, the presence of an additional aggravating factor will elevate the crime to DV 1<sup>st</sup>. See S.C. Code §16-25-20 (C)(4).

Accordingly, the State agrees the trial court’s charge was “incomplete” because it did not define DV 2<sup>nd</sup>. It was thus not possible for the jury to make an informed decision whether Workman was guilty under §(B)(5) by virtue of the presence of multiple aggravating factors. The evidence supported guilt under §(B)(5) because, as defense counsel argued, there was evidence Workman committed domestic violence 1) in the presence of a minor, 2) by restricting his wife’s access to a telephone, 3) by choking, and, as the jury found, 4) during the commission of a kidnapping. (App.428–29).

**B. Erroneous jury instructions on lesser-included offenses are subject to a harmless error analysis.**

Even though the charge was incomplete as to §(B)(5), Workman was not prejudiced. Erroneous jury instructions are subject to a harmless error analysis. In order to merit reversal, “a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 232 (Ct. App. 2006).

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