STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jan 11 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Greenville County
Alex Kinlaw, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

OLANDIO R. WORKMAN,

RESPONDENT

Opinion No. 5922 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 13, 2022)

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001263

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

And, C, the offense is committed during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft. D, the offense is committed by impeding the victim's breathing or air flow. E, the offense is committed using physical force or threatened use of force against another to block that person's access to any cell phone, telephone, or electronic communication device with the purpose of preventing, obstructing, or interfering with the report of a criminal offense, bodily injury, or property damage, a request for an ambulance or emergency medical assistance to any law enforcement officer.

Domestic violence in the first degree here, as I said earlier, is a lesser included offense of domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature as defined in the previous code section, the code section that I outlined

(R. p. 503, lines 1-22). The judge, however, did not define domestic violence second degree.

After the charge Respondent objected to the failure to explain domestic violence second degree and the failure to define moderate bodily injury. (R. p. 508, lines 5-16). The judge declined to instruct the jury on the definitions of domestic violence second degree and moderate bodily injury. The jury then had several questions. The jury first asked how the witness fled from the State and in what car. (R. p. 522, lines 16-25; Court's Exhibit #4, R. p. 570). The jury then asked the difference between domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature and domestic violence first degree. (R. p. 523, lines 1-3; Court's Exhibit #3, R. p. 570). The judge agreed to re-charge the jury and display the statutes on a screen so that the jury could follow along as the judge read the charge. (R. p. 523, line 4 – p. 524, lines 1-6). Counsel for Respondent asked that the judge explain domestic violence second degree. The judge denied the request. (R. p. 524, lines 7-11). After the re-charge counsel for Respondent stated, "I need to renew my objection as to not putting in the definition of moderate bodily injury or domestic violence second in the charge for domestic violence first degree." (R. p. 531, lines 14-19).

The jury then asked for a copy of the "laws." (R. p. 532, lines 1-4; Court's Exhibit #5, R. p. 571). Respondent objected to providing the jury with a written copy of the statutes and renewed the request to define domestic violence second degree and moderate bodily injury. (R. p. 535, lines 21-24). The judge decided, over objection by Respondent, to provide the jury with a written copy of the statutes addressing domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature and domestic violence first degree. (R. p. 537, lines 14-23). Before the judge could provide the written statutes the jury asked the judge to explain kidnapping and asked, "Can the judge read

what is bodily harm? Can he state that fear of what?” (R. p. 539, lines 19-21; Court’s Exhibits #6 and #7, R. pp. 571-572). The judge provided the jury with written copies of the statutes addressing domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, domestic violence first degree and kidnapping. (R. p. 544, lines 7-20; Court’s Exhibits #8, 10 and 11, R. pp. 574, 577-578). The judge also provided the jury with the written definition of great bodily harm, as he instructed earlier. (R. p. 544, lines 21-25; Court’s Exhibit #9, R. p. 576). Counsel for Respondent renewed the objection stating, “I renew my objection as far as second degree, the definition being a necessary part, and the moderate bodily injury definition, as well as I renew my objection about giving them the paper.” (R. p. 545, lines 17-20).

The jury then asked, “What is the difference between peril or fear of great bodily injury?” (R. p. 546, lines 3-4; Court’s Exhibit #12, R. p. 573). The judge answered:

And what I – what I will tell you is that you have to use your common sense, your judgment, your – your dissemination – your determination of what that means. Just use your common sense, your – your – what you—what you believe that those terms mean to you. And I know that’s not what you wanted to come out and hear. But that’s, basically, what I can tell you. So – and you remember at the outset, I said life experience, common sense, your judgment. You’re the judge of the facts. So that’s – that’s within your purview. So to the best of your ability, you – you have to make a determination to the applicability of these terms.

(R. p. 547, line 25 -p. 548, lines 1-11).

The jury returned with one final question, “Domestic violence high and aggravated, if one point is met, can you not look at domestic violence first degree?” (R. p. 549, lines 17-19; Court’s Exhibit #13, R. p. 573). The judge noted, “I think the answer is yes. Are both sides in agreement? Because I think what – the way I interpret this is since you’ve got domestic violence first degree as a lesser included – and that’s what they’re asking – can they consider it? I think the answer is yes.” (R. p. 550, lines 7-12). The judge then told the jury, “We’ve got another

question from the jury panel. And it says – and I’m going to read it, it says, Domestic violence high and aggravated nature, if one point is met, can you not look at domestic violence first degree? And I’ve consulted with Counsel from both sides and the answer to that is yes.” (R. p. 551, lines 1-6).

After the jury returned for deliberations, counsel for Respondent said, “Well, Judge, now, I’m concerned. Can you not look – you couldn’t look – I think it was meant colloquial as, can we still look at it? But now that I’ve heard it, it confuses me.” (R. p. 551, lines 16-19). Seven minutes after the judge answered the final question with, “Yes” the jury returned with a verdict of guilty of domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. (R. p. 551, line 9 – p. 552, lines 1-16). The jury’s numerous questions reflect that they did not understand the difference between domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature and domestic violence first degree. The judge’s charge on domestic violence first degree was incomplete without defining domestic violence second degree and moderate bodily injury. The trial judge erred in refusing to define DV 2nd and moderate bodily injury as part of the instruction on the lesser included offense of DV 1st pursuant to subsection (B)(5).

The Court of Appeals correctly found the trial judge erred writing:

The trial court erred in its jury instruction on first-degree CDV by not defining second-degree CDV. Although the trial court’s instruction was a correct statement of law, the jury likely would not have known what the trial court meant when it referenced second-degree CDV during the instruction. Because the trial court did not define second-degree CDV nor moderate bodily injury, the jury could not have understood subpart (B)(5) of the first-degree CDV statute. The evidence supported a jury instruction on the *definition* of second-degree CDV under section 16-25-20(B)(5) of the first-degree CDV statute. Additionally, because second-degree CDV uses the term moderate bodily injury, the court also should have given the statutorily provided definition of that term. Accordingly, the trial court erred in failing to give the definition of second-degree CDV.

State v. Workman, 437 S.C. 62, 72–73, 876 S.E.2d 151, 156 (Ct. App. 2022) (n. #1 omitted).

The error is not harmless.

The error in giving an incomplete jury instruction was not harmless

The jury in the present case had to determine if Respondent was guilty of DVHAN or DV

1st. DVHAN is defined by S.C. Code §16-25-65 as follows:

(A) A person who violates Section 16-25-20(A) is guilty of the offense of domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature when one of the following occurs. The person:

- (1) commits the offense under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life and great bodily injury to the victim results;
- (2) commits the offense, with or without an accompanying battery and under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, and would reasonably cause a person to fear imminent great bodily injury or death; or
- (3) violates a protection order and, in the process of violating the order, commits domestic violence in the first degree.

(B) A person who violates subsection (A) is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for not more than twenty years.

Section (D) provides examples of circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life as follows:

- (1) using a deadly weapon;
- (2) knowingly and intentionally impeding the normal breathing or circulation of the blood of a household member by applying pressure to the throat or neck or by obstructing the nose or mouth of a household member and thereby causing stupor or loss of consciousness for any period of time;
- (3) committing the offense in the presence of a minor;
- (4) committing the offense against a person he knew, or should have known, to be pregnant;
- (5) committing the offense during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft; or

- (6) using physical force against another to block that person's access to any cell phone, telephone, or electronic communication device with the purpose of preventing, obstructing, or interfering with:
 - a. the report of any criminal offense, bodily injury, or property damage to a law enforcement agency; or
 - b. a request for an ambulance or emergency medical assistance to any law enforcement agency or emergency medical provider.

Five of these examples are very similar to the aggravating factors found in subsection (B)(5) of the DV 1st statute that elevate a DV 2nd to a DV 1st.

The indictment alleges physical harm without providing a degree. The indictment does not allege a specific circumstance manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life under the DVHAN statute. The degree of bodily injury and a finding of circumstances manifesting extreme indifference, including the use of a gun, were factual determinations to be made by the jury. The judge's failure, however, to fully instruct the jury on subsection (B)(5) of DV 1st statute by defining DV 2nd and moderate bodily injury effectively omitted section (B)(5) from the DV 1st statute. The error prevented the jury from considering moderate bodily injury². The error prevented the jury from properly considering the complete lesser included offense of domestic violence first offense pursuant to S.C. Code §16-25-20(B)(5).

The State argues that Respondent was not prejudiced by the incomplete jury instruction because "the jury had the viable 'third option' to convict of DV 1st under §(B)(4) based on Workman's use of a firearm 'in any manner.'" (Brief of Petitioner p. 15). The option to convict on the lesser included offense of DV 1st pursuant to §(B)(4) is not truly a third option because the jury could have rejected the use of a deadly weapon as an example of circumstances manifesting

² The State argues Loretta Workman's injuries did not rise to the level of moderate bodily injury. (Brief of Petitioner p. 22). This, however, was a factual determination to be made by the jury.

extreme indifference to the value of human life for DVHAN pursuant to §16-25-65(D) as well as rejected the use of a firearm for DV 1st pursuant to §16-25-20(B)(4). Before officers searched the house, Loretta told them that there was a gun under the bed in the master bedroom and a gun in the nightstand in the same bedroom. (R. p. 237, lines 13-20). Loretta had purchased both guns and had a concealed weapons permit. (R. p. 237, lines 7-12; p. 320, lines 14-15). The jury was not given the true third option to convict Respondent of the lesser included offense of DV 1st pursuant to S.C. Code §16-25-20(B)(5), based on a finding of moderate bodily injury, as provided by S.C. Code §16-25-20(C)(1), the DV 2nd statute, with aggravating circumstances.

The judge's failure to fully instruct the jury on the law of DV 1st, specifically the failure to define DV 2nd and moderate bodily injury pursuant to subsection (B)(5), prevented the jury from properly considering the complete lesser included offense of DV 1st. At trial the State did not object to the charge on the lesser included offense of DV 1st because there was evidence presented from which it could be inferred that that Respondent committed the lesser offense, DV 1st under §16-25-20(B)(5), rather than the greater offense of DVHAN. The error is not harmless when the jury was prevented from considering the complete and applicable lesser included offense under subsection (B)(5).

In finding that the error was not harmless, the Court of Appeals wrote:

Although, the jury had the options of finding Workman guilty of CDVHAN, guilty of the lesser included offense of first-degree CDV, or finding him not guilty, the instruction for first-degree CDV was incomplete. In the Lowry and Casey cases, if the supreme court had agreed with the harmless error theory expressed by the State, it could have found the error in giving the lesser jury instruction harmless and affirmed the convictions instead of reversing them. See also State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 584 S.E.2d 110 (2003) (reversing a voluntary manslaughter conviction when the trial court denied the defendant's request to charge involuntary manslaughter); State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 309, 555 S.E.2d 391, 398 (2001) ("Because there was evidence ... supporting a conviction for the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter, we reverse Appellant's conviction [of murder]."). Because the supreme court has not opted to

find the failure to give instructions harmless when the jury convicted of the higher offense, we will not find the error in failing to give a complete charge on the lesser offense harmless here. Accordingly, the trial court's error in giving an incomplete charge on first-degree CDV was not harmless despite the jury's conviction of Workman of the offense of CDVHAN.

State v. Workman, 437 S.C. 62, 81, 876 S.E.2d 151, 161 (Ct. App. 2022). The Court of Appeals correctly found that the error was not harmless because there was evidence from which the jury could infer guilt of the lesser included offense pursuant to S.C. Code §16-25-20(B)(5) .

The present case is distinguished from State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 755 S.E.2d 432 (2014), where this Court found, under the specific facts of that case, that the trial court's error in refusing to charge assault and battery first degree as a lesser included offense of attempted murder was harmless. As the Court noted in Middleton, “. . . [T]he only conclusion established by the evidence is that Appellant was guilty of attempted murder, given the facts that Appellant deliberately drove up to the passenger window and shot into the vehicle at least five times, and Stephens testified that the only reason he and Mack were not injured is because he had the wherewithal to jump into the driver's seat and run Appellant off the road. In our view, there is no other way to construe the evidence in this case but that Appellant was attempting to kill Stephens and Mack.” 407 S.C. at 319, 755 S.E.2d at 436.

In contrast, in the present case the jury could have determined that Respondent was guilty of DV 1st pursuant to subsection (B)(5). The jury could have determined that Respondent committed DV 2nd by causing moderate bodily injury accompanied by one of the aggravating factors included in subsection (B)(5). The jury, however, was not given the opportunity to make that determination. In the State's closing argument the prosecutor referenced the lesser included offense of DV 1st pursuant to S.C. Code §16-25-20. He first addressed S.C. Code §16-25-20 (B)(4) addressing the use of a firearm. (R. p. 458, lines 2-11). The prosecutor also

referenced S.C. Code §16-25-20(B)(5) but did not define DV 2nd , as part of the DV 1st statute, and did not define moderate bodily injury as required for DV 2nd. He noted the aggravator in §16-25-20(B)(5)(a) dealing with an offense committed while being perceived by a minor and the aggravator listed in S.C. Code §16-25-20(B)(5)(c) dealing with an offense committed during the commission of a kidnapping. (R. p. 458, lines 12-16). The judge did not define for the jury DV 2nd, as part of the DV 1st statute and did not define moderate bodily injury. The error in failing to fully charge subsection (B)(5) by refusing to define DV 2nd and moderate bodily injury is not harmless in this case.

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